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<THE HEARING COMMENCED AT 2.12 PM  

 

COMMISSIONER: We'll have the councillor - remind me, Councillor, did you take 

an oath or an affirmation? 

 5 

MR MONAGHAN: An affirmation.  

 

<ETHAN MONAGHAN, AFFIRMED  

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Monaghan, I want to commence by asking you some 

questions about the council meeting of last night.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: If we could bring up, please, the agenda, being 

INQ.095.001.0003. It can be live streamed. You can see Council Agenda for last 

night's meeting? 

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And can we move through to page 7, please. This is part of the 

agenda, and I just want to draw your attention to two confidential items. Confidential 

paper 11, code of conduct investigation report, then in brackets it's got "T8"?  25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I can see that.  

 

MS McDONALD: Is your understanding that's a reference to tranche 8?  

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Confidential paper number 12, another code of conduct 

investigation report, this time dealing with tranches 1 and 2, and another complaint 

that's known as IW? 35 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I can see that.  

 

MS McDONALD: In the agenda as set out there, the papers for confidential 11 and 

confidential 12 are to be provided under separate cover?  40 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I can see that.  

 

MS McDONALD: Did you receive them before the meeting? 

 45 

MR MONAGHAN: I did, yes.  
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MS McDONALD: When did you receive those two papers? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Friday afternoon, at about 2.38 pm.  

 

MS McDONALD: Were they emailed to you? 5 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: Sent to you, what, in paper version?  

 10 

MR MONAGHAN: They were hard copies, yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Hard copies, sorry. Speaking to your fellow councillors last 

night, was there any indication of when some of the other councillors received the 

hard copy of confidential 11 and 12? 15 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Some other councillors seemed to have received them that 

night.  

 

MS McDONALD: While at the council premises?  20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, just before the council meeting commenced.  

 

MS McDONALD: Can you give an indication of how many - sorry, I withdraw that. 

You learnt that information by speaking to some councillors? 25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, that was my observation.  

 

MS McDONALD: And do you know how many had not received it? 

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: No, I don't.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  

 

COMMISSIONER: What circumstances led you to that conclusion, from your 35 

observations?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Council officers came around with boxes and - with bundles of 

our meeting papers in them. They come in distinctive yellow envelopes, 

rubber-banded together, and we had to sign for them. So observing those parcels 40 

being handed around, I drew the conclusion that some people hadn't - or some 

councillors hadn't collected those papers on Friday afternoon.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I see. That was the parcel you received at precisely 2.38 pm on 

Friday.  45 
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MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I recall the time because I had to write down the time on 

the sheet that I signed out to say that I'd received them.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Thank you. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: All right. So based on that answer, they were available to other 

councillors but they had to come into the council offices and pick it up? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. Or if they couldn't attend to pick them up, council offered 

to courier them to wherever they could be found eventually.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: I wanted -  

 

COMMISSIONER: Is that a usual procedure -  

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - or is it different for this because of the nature of the item?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: The only thing is - I can gather is that it's different because of 20 

the nature of the item.  

 

MS McDONALD: I want to play part of last night's meeting. We have a video or 

a recording of that, which is INQ.101.001.0001.  

 25 

MR MONAGHAN: At the risk of causing a psychosocial hazard, I'm happy to 

watch it.  

 

MS McDONALD: Not the whole meeting, just a particular part.  

 30 

COMMISSIONER: I'm not sure what I do with that.  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes, please. Sorry. I do apologise. Can we start at about 6.05.  

 

VIDEO PLAYED  35 

 

MS McDONALD: I'll play it. I may stop it at times.  

 

COMMISSIONER: That's fine.  

 40 

VIDEO PLAYED  

 

MS McDONALD: I see, we're in recess. Here we go. Sorry, can we just pause. 

Thank you.  

 45 

VIDEO PLAYED  

 



 

 

 

 

LCC Inquiry – 27.11.2025 P-3899  Transcript by Law In Order 

 

 

MS McDONALD: Ms Associate, could we stop it. Can I just ask you about that 

section that I've shown you. There is at times some raised voices, the mayor and 

Councillor Ristevski speaking over each other. The way that the mayor seems to 

have dealt with it is at one stage he stands up, as foreshadowed under the Code of 

Meeting Practice, which means everybody should be quiet, and then gives, 5 

ultimately, Councillor Ristevski two warnings.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, can I ask you your view of how the meeting was 10 

progressing at that time? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: The recording, I think, speaks for itself. It's not particularly 

orderly. It is what it is. It's self-evident.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: The way that I outlined that it appeared Mr Mannoun was 

dealing with it, is it your view that that's consistent with the Code of Meeting 

Practice?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: It is. There are further steps that could be taken, but it's 20 

consistent.  

 

MS McDONALD: And so the steps taken, as you've just said, were consistent with 

the Code of Meeting Practice. Ultimately, there could be other steps taken under that 

code? 25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. If we can keep on playing this.  

 30 

VIDEO PLAYED  

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry, could we stop. That section where Mr Breton announced 

that he had - or was making a declaration of interest, and also it seems that a number 

of other members of staff were making such a declaration that wasn't articulated, 35 

were you given any advance warning that that was going to be his position? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, we weren't given any advanced warning that either he or 

other staff would be making declarations of conflicts of interest. And those conflicts 

must be recorded in the minutes. So the basis of them, whether they're pecuniary, 40 

non-pecuniary, significant, less than significant, the actions that the proposed - the 

person proposes to take to deal with that conflict and the basis of the conflict must be 

recorded in the minutes.  

 

MS McDONALD: I think after a question from you, Mr Breton did identify, I think, 45 

that it was a non-pecuniary significant conflict of interest, though he did note that he 
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didn't know what was in the papers, but he was erring on the side of caution and 

would withdraw.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Well, yes, that's what he said. I still maintain I don't know how 

you declare a interest on something that you don't - unaware of. But that doesn't 5 

explain the lack of declarations in respect of the other staff who left the room.  

 

MS McDONALD: If we can start - and, sorry, we're now, it would appear, because 

I cut the video off - there was a motion to move these two confidential 11 and 12 up 

in the order of the meeting? 10 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And now it appears that Councillor Macnaught is now moving 

for the meeting to move into closed session? 15 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: Could we start playing again.  

 20 

VIDEO PLAYED  

 

MS McDONALD: Can you just pause it. Again, Mr Monaghan, a section where 

there are some raised voices?  

 25 

MR MONAGHAN: Correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun and Mr Ristevski speaking over each other at 

times? 

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: Correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun, at one point, standing up? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Correct.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: Issuing a second warning, but I thought we were actually up to 

number 3.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I think that was the second warning, and I think we got to 40 

a third second warning as well.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. Again, using or adopting some of your description given 

previously, it is what it is?  

 45 

MR MONAGHAN: Self-evident. Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: Not very edifying conduct? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: But with your knowledge of the Code of Meeting Practice, the 5 

mayor standing up, which brings with it that everybody should stop speaking -  

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: - is an appropriate stance to take or action to take? 10 

 

MR MONAGHAN: It's one action to take. Further action can be taken.  

 

MS McDONALD: And what further action? 

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: Acts of disorder, when it's required to be withdrawn and isn't 

complied with, the chair is entitled to expel people from the meeting.  

 

MS McDONALD: So we're now, I think, moving to a motion that the meeting move 

into closed session. Can I just raise - Mr Ristevski, when he was talking, was 20 

pointing to at least three fellow councillors, saying something along the lines of - I 

think it was either, you know, "You've got a code of conflict complaint against me, 

you're all conflicted, don't hide." At this time, was there an identification at all about 

if there were any councillors who had been - or who were complainants in any of the 

matters to be considered in the reports in confidential 11 and confidential 12? 25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: There was no confirmation of that by council staff, but 

Councillor Ristevski was pointing at a number of councillors, being Councillor 

Harte, Macnaught and Mannoun. I drew the conclusion that they must be the 

complainants, or some of the complainants.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. Because - and we'll get to this shortly - there are 

requirements under the - I think it's the Code of Conduct procedures about - where 

a councillor is a complainant, about their continued attendance in the council 

meeting, when the matter of a confidential report dealing with code of conduct is 35 

going to be considered? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: They certainly are.  

 

MS McDONALD: And to put a rather obvious proposition, to make sure that that 40 

section is complied with, one would have to know who the complainants were? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: And we - 45 

 

COMMISSIONER: It wasn't clear at this point in time? 
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MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Because at the moment all we're dealing with is a motion to 

move into private session.  5 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct. Look - 

 

COMMISSIONER: It wasn't revealed in the papers, that - 

 10 

MR MONAGHAN: No. And it - look, it wasn't clear to me who the complainants 

were, but it would have been clear to the complainants who the complainants were.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Can we continue?  

 15 

VIDEO PLAYED 

 

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, stop. Stop.  

 

COMMISSIONER: But the item isn't yet before the council, as I apprehend it? 20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No. That's correct.  

 

COMMISSIONER: We're just dealing with let's go into closed?  

 25 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

COMMISSIONER: And in your view, is the next step to move whatever the 

recommendation is - I don't know - about, or move the recommendation in the book 

to note the report or something - that is where those people who have a conflict 30 

would identify it? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

VIDEO PLAYED  35 

 

MS MCDONALD: Could you just pause. Mr Monaghan, as demonstrated there, you 

originally - sorry, you were speaking against moving into closed session?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: And you were referring primarily to section 10A of the Local 

Government Act? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Correct.  45 
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MS McDONALD: When you were addressing the council, you also seemed to raise 

two other matters. The first one, you referred to the motion adopted on 14 October 

dealing with witnesses at the inquiry? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Correct.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: And then you referred to something about a consideration and 

a narrowing of that motion that was considered earlier at this meeting? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: So what was - what point were you raising there? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That even on the narrow definition that council had adopted of 

that motion, that this item would - is necessarily related to witnesses at the inquiry on 15 

that narrow definition, would require legal advice and would still attract the conflicts 

of interest that other councillors had raised in relation to matters that are being dealt 

with by this inquiry being dealt with on council at the same time, and the absence of 

those conflicts.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: And was the second matter you raised - was when you said other 

people have potential conflicts of interest which have not been declared.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: What were you referring to then?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: The other councillors who in the past have declared conflicts of 

interest in respect of - I think it was NOM 02 at - it might have been the August 

meeting of council - no, no, it was the September meeting of council, the one that 30 

was adjourned, in relation to a matter that addressed social media use and the 

offending paragraph that had the words "public inquiry" - declarations were made 

that caused the meeting to be adjourned.  

 

Once, you know, those words were removed it was all fine. The substance was still 35 

the same, but we all no longer had a conflict. Again, the same principle applies here. 

It's related to the inquiry, and the substance of it is also related to the motion of 

urgency that Councillor Macnaught moved on 14 October. I don't see how the 

conflict of interest that occurred in respect of a less significant item is no longer 

present.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: On the last occasion when you gave evidence, I asked you about 

those two meetings where there was the motion concerning the council Facebook 

page. There was a first paragraph which I think referred to findings of this public 

inquiry.  45 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: You were left without a quorum.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: The councillors, pursuant to the code of conduct - Code of 

Meeting Practice then adjourned it, I think, to a couple of days' time?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: The following day.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: The following day. And again, the motion was then 

reconsidered, as you said, with the offending words referring to the public inquiry 

removed? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: Right.  

 

COMMISSIONER: What was the - just remind me, what was the nature of the 

conflict declared back then? 20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: The conflict that was declared was that people - councillors had 

either been called to give evidence at this inquiry or in the middle of giving evidence 

at this inquiry or may be called to give evidence at this inquiry, and therefore, 

because of that circumstance of having to be here and give evidence, they couldn't 25 

deal with the item, and that - 

 

COMMISSIONER: Because the item referred to the public inquiry?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: That was - the reference to the public inquiry was then removed?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: And then apparently the conflict was also removed.  

 35 

COMMISSIONER: The item that was removed made reference to the findings? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I think that Councillor Ristevski - referring to evidence at this 

inquiry as being a finding, but -  

 40 

COMMISSIONER: I tend to agree with your view, but I'm just trying to follow 

what was declared and the circumstances it was declared. There was a motion 

moved, read in context, referring to evidence before the inquiry, and those who were 

witnesses - or some of those who were witnesses or potential witnesses declared 

a conflict. Once the motion ceased to base itself upon findings or evidence of this 45 

inquiry, then it proceeded? 
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MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Can we continue playing, please.  

 

VIDEO PLAYED  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: So it wasn't clear from the papers? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 10 

VIDEO PLAYED  

 

MS McDONALD: And if we can just pause there. You saw Mr Harte walk past the 

chair and Mr Mannoun then standing up, and you can see in the right-hand corner at 

least Mr Harte speaking with Mr Galpin? 15 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. Mr Mannoun and Mr Harte were speaking with 

Mr Galpin.  

 

MS McDONALD: We can continue.  20 

 

VIDEO PLAYED  

 

COMMISSIONER: Why are we looking at chairs?  

 25 

MS McDONALD: There is a long pause. I think the long pause continues until 

about 6.29. And if we can go to about 35. So at the moment we're just about 6.25.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I think we're closer to 6.27 when we hit fast forward.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: And if we can go to 6.29, about 45. Got the mayor coming back.  

 

VIDEO PLAYED  

 

MS McDONALD: We'll stop. Now, where Mr Mannoun said there is some 35 

ambiguity re "complainantants" or complainants, did he explain what the ambiguity 

was? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: And then he referred to a "discrepancy". Again, did he explain 

what this discrepancy was? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: The material that you received, so the papers - I think you've 

already answered this - they dealt with different tranches of complaints? 
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MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: There was no identification of who the complainants were? 

 5 

MR MONAGHAN: I'm not sure if I can answer. It might go - that might go to the 

content of the reports.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Mr Parish, how would "yes" or "no" go to the content of the 

report?  10 

 

MR PARISH: It won't if it's "yes" or "no".  

 

COMMISSIONER: It seems to me that question could be answered "yes" or "no". 

Is there - I think the question is did any of the reports identify the complaints. And if 15 

you can't answer it "yes" or "no", feel free to let me know.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: By name or by position or by some other identifying feature?  20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I think it was - it's some other identifying feature.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. I now understand why you were hesitant. And we're 

not dealing with a situation where - CONF 11, is it - says there were three complaints 25 

made by Councillor - I don't think you have a Councillor Smith or a Councillor 

Jones - and we're dealing with those matters. We're not talking about that sort of 

situation?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No. No.  30 

 

COMMISSIONER: Speaking generally about the conduct concerned? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: Given the content of the code of conduct procedure, which 

expressly provides, if a councillor is a complainant, the councillor should absent him 

or herself from the meeting when the complaint is being discussed. Was your 

expectation that in some way there would have been an identification of who the 

councillor complainants were before these two confidential reports dealing with code 40 

of conduct was considered at the meeting? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: If not before, when we - if we eventually get to dealing with the 

substantive item, then necessarily they would have to make themselves known 

because they would have to absent themselves from the meeting. But given the 45 

tranches that are involved, one would suspect that if you lodged a code of conduct 

you are informed of the outcome of that code of conduct and you would be aware 
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that that code of conduct would be contained in a report and you would be aware that 

you are, in fact, a complainant.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I've heard some evidence that some councillors weren't aware 

that they were complainants.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: Well, I think Mr Monaghan, on the last occasion, in 

correspondence raised a matter. And then you were informed that when you raised 

a concern in a letter it had become a code of conduct complaint?  

 10 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: But your understanding is there's at least a notification to the 

person that their complaint or the matter that - raised in correspondence is being 

treated as a code of conduct complaint? 15 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: And you would anticipate, at some stage, some reporting back as 

to where the code of conduct complaint has reached? 20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: Also, we have before the inquiry a spreadsheet which has been 

prepared by the council, an Excel spreadsheet, which identifies all the code of 25 

conduct complaints, identifies the complainant, the person - or the respondent to the 

complainant, and also whether they're in tranche 1, tranche 2 or tranche 8. That 

information would appear to have allowed a very easy answer to the question of who 

remaining in this council meeting is a complainant that we're about to consider? 

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: And could very easily deal with ambiguity that Mr Mannoun 

raised? 

 35 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: The upshot of the meeting - and I cut it off, but meetings close at 

11?  

 40 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: You still haven't dealt with these two confidential matters? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  45 
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MS McDONALD: It would appear from Mr Ristevski's comments right at the 

beginning of this part of the meeting that I played that there are other either motions 

or other reports that have to be dealt with? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: And has the meeting been adjourned until 6 pm this afternoon? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 10 

COMMISSIONER: What's your observation as to the rest of the meeting before we 

got to, you know, the point we got to on the tape there? How was the rest of the 

meeting conducted, in your view, last night? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Some portions of it were not quite as disorderly, but similarly 15 

heated.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Similarly heated?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Heated. With significant -  20 

 

COMMISSIONER: Can you give me some examples? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I think it was CORP 04 or 05 in the agenda which dealt with 

council's interpretation of the motion of urgency that was passed on 14 October. That 25 

item attracted some fairly significant debate. I attempted to ask some questions about 

how council came to determine the intent of that motion and was eventually shut 

down by the mayor and - with a ruling that it was irrelevant and argumentative. 

There was significant discussion about a mayoral minute early in the meeting - about 

inserting or incorporating principles into the Code of Meeting Practice that would 30 

appear to be inconsistent with mandatory provisions of the code.  

 

MS McDONALD: Can I just pause there. That's the new Code of Meeting Practice 

that I think the meeting then subsequently adopted? 

 35 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct. Significant, again, robust debate over that item.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Robust debate's one thing, but were there, in your view, acts of 

disorder? 

 40 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: On that - I wasn't going to show it, but you raise an issue about 

whether you can insert or incorporate into the Code of Meeting Practice provisions 

which appear to be inconsistent, and my recollection is there's a question through the 45 

CEO, again to Mr Galpin?  

 



 

 

 

 

LCC Inquiry – 27.11.2025 P-3909  Transcript by Law In Order 

 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Who seemed to have a very busy night.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: He usually does.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: Concerning whether that could be done or whether legally it 

could be done, and Mr Galpin expressed a preliminary view but, I think, stated that 

he would prefer some more time to have a look at it? 

 10 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: But ultimately, a majority of the councillors decided to carry or 

adopt the motion, which did involve some kind of incorporation or insertion?  

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: No, there was no incorporation. I think the motion that was 

passed was more declaration of an intent to the effect of the proposed provisions that 

the mayor was attempting to insert into the code, with a point - requesting advice 

from general counsel as to whether or not it was consistent with the mandatory 

provisions of the code.  20 

 

COMMISSIONER: What's your view on the substance of the points, though? 

Which, as I understand it, are directed to giving notice of things to be moved by way 

of mayoral minute or by - I can't remember the wording, but effectively substantial 

amendment to a recommendation in the book? 25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: In respect of the mayoral minutes, I completely support that. 

I attempted to do that about 12 months ago, calling for three clear business days at 

which mayoral minutes would be put to council meetings so that councillors had 

time to consider them.  30 

 

In respect of the notices of motion, the second point of that motion, given the fact 

that notices of motion have to be placed on the business paper at least, I think, nine 

business days beforehand, and they're not subject to the broad discretion under 

mayoral minutes to just be placed before a meeting, I don't see how you could insert 35 

a provision that says, "Okay, you can put a motion on the papers, but if you decide in 

the intervening period that you'd like to substantially amend it you can submit that to 

council beforehand."  

 

I think the more appropriate place is, given the restrictions on the timing and the fact 40 

that - I think the CEO provides a comment about notices of motion - I'm not sure that 

provision is still in the new code - that wouldn't be able to be complied with. So I 

think the most appropriate place for those to be amended is, in fact, on the floor of 

council.  

 45 

COMMISSIONER: But one issue that - a provision like that, whether as 

a statement of intent or as the insertion into the code if it were permissible, would be 
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that if you saw a motion in the book and thought, "Well, hang on, no, that's all 

sideways. It doesn't work for these 10 reasons, here's another one," but it's 

substantially redrafted, you would circulate that to your fellow councillors and to the 

council so that everybody would know, when the item comes up, Councillor 

Monaghan's going to move a pretty substantial amendment, to avoid some of what 5 

I've seen, where rather substantial amendments are moved - there's no criticism 

intended of anybody by this, but this is what happens - there's a bit of drafting by 

committee and, "Do you accept that," "Don't you accept that," or, I thought - and get 

a bit lost as to whether we're dealing with the motion or amended motion or what it 

is - is there some benefit to that type of scenario? 10 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, but I'm not sure how practically that could be done.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I'm not suggesting you amend what's in the book. It's about 

giving notice that, when the item comes up, "I'm going to be moving an 15 

amendment."  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, can I see the value.  

 

COMMISSIONER: And so all of your colleagues can consider it and go, "Actually, 20 

yeah, that makes sense," or, "I like 4, 5 and 6, I'm not so crazy about 1 and 2."  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, I can see the merit in that.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Because there's - do you agree generally the more notice you 25 

and your colleagues have of things that are going to come before you the better?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: It would assist, yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: You referred to previously raising a matter of - with mayoral 30 

minutes there should be - I think you said three days' notice? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Did you put that forward as a notice of motion? 35 

 

MR MONAGHAN: It was a motion in the book and I sought to move amendments 

to the motion in the book at - on the floor of council.  

 

MS McDONALD: And was it carried? 40 

 

MR MONAGHAN: It was not carried. What was carried instead was that those 

proposed amendments that I put forward be deferred for council staff to provide 

advice about them.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: And did it go any further after that? 
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MR MONAGHAN: Yes. Advice was provided to the effect that mandatory 

provisions of the code could not be altered. And of the - it may have been half 

a dozen or so amendments that I was proposing - I think four - over - the vast 

majority of them were attempting to amend mandatory provisions. I was told that 

that was unlawful, it was inconsistent with the code, and I withdrew them.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: I just want to ask you some questions about the second matter 

that you referred to. I've forgotten how you've described it. Could we bring up, first, 

INQ.074.001.0001. And if we can go to page 6, please. Yes. Could we just go to 

page 1, just to orientate everybody, please. You can see these are the minutes of the 10 

extraordinary meeting held on 14 October? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: On page 6, there is a motion that was moved by, I think, 15 

Councillor Macnaught, which - sorry, I'm now getting confused. Which page are we 

on up there? Just if we'd go to the bottom of page 5. You can see moved, Councillor 

Macnaught; seconded, Councillor Harle.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: And then if we go - yes, stop there. Thanks. Is this the motion 

that you raised at last night's meeting?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: And this was - I think it's more the second paragraph:  

 

"...that Council will await the findings ... and defer making any further consideration 

or action by Council on matters related to witnesses before the Inquiry should only 30 

occur after obtaining independent legal advice confirming that such action is ... 

lawful and appropriate ... does not give rise to or contribute to psychosocial hazard or 

risk..."  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: Last night, what did you - that concerned that motion that was 

carried?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: There was a report in the book that provided council's 40 

understanding of the intent of the motion and outlined the circumstances in which 

this motion would be engaged.  

 

MS McDONALD: Did that also include legal advice about the motion? 

 45 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  
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MS McDONALD: Not last night? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, there was no - this motion has never been subjected to any 

legal advice.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: And what were you seeking last night about it? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I was asking questions of council staff about how council staff 

arrived at the interpretation of the intent of the motion, which they did. The report 

states that the understanding - the understand - the intent of point 2 would be that 10 

council would obtain legal advice, confirming (a) and (b), where council was 

taking - or seeking to take action in respect of a witness at this inquiry - either their 

employment or taking action in relation to a witness's conduct.  

 

MS McDONALD: And is that why, in the part of the meeting that we've just looked 15 

at, dealing with code of conduct complaints, you raised how does the consideration 

of confidential 11 and 12 interact with this? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: And has that been resolved? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: The report that was provided provides a resolution. It's not one 

that I think is correct, for the reasons I stated at the meeting last night.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: Can I move - and, sorry, Commissioner, you were asking about 

last night's meeting. Could I just continue that. Is there anything else that occurred at 

last night's meeting that you wish to raise? In particular, how it was conducted, the 

procedure? 

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Can I turn to an associated topic. That is, legal advice.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: And again, just putting it in summary, it would - there was an 

extraordinary meeting held in September, in which a resolution dealing with a staff 

matter was raised?  

 40 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: And in respect of that matter, was legal advice obtained? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  45 

 

MS McDONALD: That was obtained by the council? 
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MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: From an outside firm? 

 5 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And were you provided with a copy of that advice before the 

meeting?  

 10 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: At the extraordinary meeting in October, again, was any legal 

advice obtained before that meeting? 

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Again, was that advice obtained by council? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: Was it obtained from an outside firm? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: And were you provided with a copy of it before the meeting?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Is it your experience, of being a councillor - if there is a matter 30 

that is being raised or debated at a council meeting and legal advice has been 

obtained about it, is it your understanding that that advice will be provided to the 

councillors? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: And in the circumstances where such advice is provided to 

councillors - this may seem a silly question - is it usually contained in writing? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: And obviously, as legal advice, there are requirements that 

councillors will then observe confidentiality about the advice? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  45 
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MS McDONALD: Is it your - you said that your experience is it's been - it is 

provided to councillors. Is it your understanding whether it's mandatory that - if 

a matter is arising and council obtain outside advice about it, that it is provided to 

councillors? 

 5 

MR MONAGHAN: I'm not aware if it's mandatory or not.  

 

MS McDONALD: You have experienced what appears to be a practice that such 

advice is provided? 

 10 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Have you ever come across circumstances where a matter is to 

be debated at a council meeting and oral advice is obtained from an outside firm but 

obtained - although by the council, the oral advice is given to a councillor, including 15 

the mayor? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: Assuming those circumstances arose, where the counsel, though 20 

it was given to the mayor, was legal advice from an outside firm about a matter to be 

debated at council, is it your expectation that the content of that legal advice in some 

way would be provided to the councillors? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Absolutely.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: And whether that's provided by a file note or a - if it was 

contained in an email or correspondence, so not, you know, a formal advice from 

counsel or a solicitor - but the content of that advice would be provided to 

councillors? 30 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, of course.  

 

MS McDONALD: Can you excuse me for a minute. I want to just move to some 

other general topics. And these are some questions that had been asked about - from 35 

some of your fellow councillors. First question is what are the current issues that are 

facing the council?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: The most obvious that springs to mind is financial issues. 

I spoke about them on the last occasion I was here.  40 

 

COMMISSIONER: That is the discrepancy between the forecast and the actuals?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 45 

COMMISSIONER: Anything else that bucket?  
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MR MONAGHAN: And the proposed method of fixing the actual discrepancy. But 

I'm concerned about the lack of consideration as to why that discrepancy seems to be 

such a regular occurrence and is such a wide discrepancy. I think it presents 

challenges for accurately planning and forecasting decisions related to expenditure.  

 5 

Other issues I would identify - there seems, at least historically, at the beginning of 

the term - with a particular project in mind, being the Carnes Hill pool - issues in 

respect of project management. And again going towards financial planning and 

expenditure, given that that project was slated to cost in the order of $53 million to 

provide a specific pool, being 100 metres. Turns out we're now going to need at least 10 

$100 million to provide a 100-metre pool. That's an obvious concern. Again, the 

intersection between appropriate project management and financial management. I 

think they are -  

 

COMMISSIONER: Did you say 100-metre pool?  15 

 

MR MONAGHAN: 50 metres, sorry. 50.  

 

MS McDONALD: 50, and it's now 25?  

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: 25. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And is it also your understanding that finance was coming 

from - I think it's WestInvest? 

 25 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And is also your understanding that the WestInvest grant was for 

a 50-metre pool and then there had to be an approach back to WestInvest for an 

amendment -  30 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: - to now finance a 25-metre pool?  

 35 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry, anything -  

 

MR MONAGHAN: They're the most important substantive issues that I see facing 40 

council.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Those two are sort of related in a way, aren't they, because they 

deal with projections into the future, which - and the accuracy of them in the end and 

trying to ensure that projections are -  45 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  
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COMMISSIONER: There's always a level of uncertainty in a projection, you would 

accept, but trying to get as close to the mark as one can?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. I'd accept that no one - you can't project these things to be 5 

100 per cent accurate, but I think the variance and the consistent significant variance 

is what the problem is - is a challenge.  

 

COMMISSIONER: How do you address that? 

 10 

MR MONAGHAN: I don't know. Persons with more financial acumen than me 

would - might be the more appropriate people to ask.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I was hoping you had more than me.  

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

COMMISSIONER: They're the financial risks.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  20 

 

COMMISSIONER: Any other risks or issues that you see? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Well, again, I think financially is the overriding concern, 

because if councils don't have money they can't provide basic services that people 25 

expect council to deliver. Making sure, you know, the verge out in front of 

someone's house is mowed, making sure potholes are filled in, basic services that 

people expect from a council. They are the most significant concerns that people 

approach me about. But again, that comes back to financial planning and 

management.  30 

 

COMMISSIONER: Or the council might have the ability to perform those basic 

services but lack the headroom to provide growth or other community services or 

activities? 

 35 

MR MONAGHAN: Precisely. And it's a trade-off and it's about council prioritising 

particular things, and again, managing what money they have - what money we have 

to prioritise things that we think should be a higher degree of priority or have a lower 

degree of priority. I think they're the most substantive issues that face the 

organisation. In respect of meetings, the most - most significant issue I see is, with 40 

respect, they're poorly chaired.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Why do you say that? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: The Code of Meeting Practice is either complied with - we 45 

follow what's in it to have a well-run and efficient meeting, or - and what I think the 

current circumstances are - particular provisions are implemented at particular points 
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in time when particular councillors raise them. I gave evidence on the last occasion 

about attempting to move particular motions. I gave evidence at this occasion about 

attempting to ask particular questions. The Code of Meeting Practice is very strictly 

implemented when I'm asking those questions.  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: So an inconsistency in its application? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: What - I'm sorry, you go on.  10 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, I -  

 

COMMISSIONER: What about from the other 10 councillors and their adherence 

to the Code of Meeting Practice? 15 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Well, of course there's - it's self-evident. Everyone's seen the 

recordings. There's a level of dysfunction and disorder. But there are provisions in 

the code to deal with dysfunction and disorder. It's the responsibility of the chair to 

maintain an orderly and efficient meeting.  20 

 

COMMISSIONER: Do councillors have a role in raising points of order, 

highlighting acts of disorder? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  25 

 

COMMISSIONER: Does that happen? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. More often than not, particular councillors' points of order 

are upheld and other councillors' points of order are ignored. Again, it's - the 30 

consistent application of the code in an impartial manner, I think, would lead to 

a much more efficient, effective meeting.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Why are efficient, effective, orderly meetings important, in 

your view? 35 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Because we have a significant and important role and function 

to fulfil. We've got a significant - we've got a very large organisation that we have 

been elected to manage and to manage in an appropriate and efficient - interest of the 

public, who base their trust - what little trust people have in politicians, they place it 40 

in us to run this organisation. It's important that the decisions that we make at the 

meetings we make those decisions are efficient, orderly and debate is sensible and 

appropriate.  

 

COMMISSIONER: It's the public window into the operation of the governing 45 

body? 
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MR MONAGHAN: Exactly.  

 

COMMISSIONER: That's your point? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, Ms McDonald, I hijacked your questions.  

 

MS McDONALD: Could you identify what things you think the council is doing 

well at the moment? 10 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Again, I'd like to point to Carnes Hill Pool. A significant 

project. It's a new pool in a growth area of the council that has been underserviced 

for those sorts of facilities for a long time. I'd like to say that that's a good thing that 

council's doing, but again, it's been poorly managed. Half of what was promised is 15 

going to be delivered. Another significant positive thing that council has done - this 

hasn't been in my term, but the 2016 to '21 term - is the new building that we hold 

our council meetings in. Civic Place - it's a fantastic project. There's a brand-new 

library, it's been recognised across the world as one of the nicest, fanciest, whatever, 

libraries.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: We were informed it won some international prize.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Exactly. Yes. I think it was - either won or it came a close 

second or third. It's a brand-new, state-of-the-art facility that council has provided. 25 

It's a facility that, in the long term, is going to generate revenue for council. That's 

a significant good news story for council. That's an appropriate use of our finances, 

given the fact that it's going to take a bit longer than first anticipated to turn 

a revenue, but it is going to, it's on course to.  

 30 

It's a project that has been appropriately, from my view - retrospectively, having not 

been involved in the decision-making - seems to have been managed well, with an 

appropriate degree of variance as to the projections. It's going to turn - it's going to 

make a revenue. Slightly longer than first anticipated, but nonetheless we'll get there. 

And again, it's a state-of-the-art facility that we're providing for our residents.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: It's now completely rented or leased out?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: And our understanding is a number of tenants are from 

universities.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: So again, it's consistent with - it appears that Liverpool is 

attracting and wanting to attract various universities and also then, associated with 
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that, with students who will move into the area, start spending money on food and 

other entertainment, et cetera. So you anticipate Civic Place will be generating 

revenue not only for the council but also for surrounding businesses? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: They're some big-ticket items. What about what I might 

describe as the nuts and bolts of council activity, community services and the like? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Well, as I said, the most common complaint that I receive is 10 

that council is failing to deliver on those basics. Council is failing to -  

 

COMMISSIONER: What does the data tell you? I think most councillors in the 

state would be approached in the supermarket or the like and - with people raising 

their concerns, quite legitimately, but what's your sense, from the information you 15 

get, about how a council is actually performing on those metrics? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Off the top of my head I can't answer.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right.  20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: But throughout the election campaign, having - since been 

elected, we door-knocked 11,000 homes across the Local Government Area, and my 

observation of the places that we attended, the people that I spoke to, is consistent 

with the complaints that we're receiving.  25 

 

COMMISSIONER: Are you getting reports about those - the delivery of those core 

council functions? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, we do receive reports. Again, I can't recall the specificity 30 

of those reports, but they mostly relate to how much money is being spent on 

particular services.  

 

MS McDONALD: You may have answered this when I asked you about current 

issues, what challenges do you see facing the council over the next five years?  35 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I think the same answer about issues is - so issues and 

challenges are the same thing.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Does the council need any support or resourcing or -  40 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I think every councillor you ask would say we could always do 

with a bit more money.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I think that's a fair answer, but anything - leaving aside the fact 45 

that I don't have a magic money wand, but is there anything that the council would 

benefit from in meeting the challenges that you've described, whether it be, as I say, 
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external support, resources, aside from more money from either the Commonwealth 

or State Government and training? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: In respect of councillors and meetings, yes, I think training 

about Code of Meeting Practice, code of conduct and code of conduct procedures 5 

would be very helpful. I think last night was a particularly good demonstration of 

that. Either in - sorry, both in terms of reading it and interpreting it, and, practically, 

in terms of implementing it. I think that would be beneficial.  

 

In terms of the other issues that I identified from more of an organisational 10 

perspective, particularly in relation project management and financial management, 

maybe some greater assistance from the State Government, Treasury or Audit Office, 

or State Government - project managers could be of assistance to the organisational 

wing of council, the council staff and that - and those - that aspect.  

 15 

COMMISSIONER: Do you mean in terms of verifying or finalising future 

projections as well as managing significant projects? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 20 

COMMISSIONER: Both? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, both. And providing ongoing training to ensure that staff 

have up to date, relevant skills to continue to perform their functions. I think that 

would be helpful.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: In that answer, you referred to training and code of conduct and 

Code of Meeting Practice. Within the code of conduct, the declaration of interest, do 

you have any observations about whether there is sufficient information or training 

being provided to councillors about what actually is covered by the declaration of 30 

interest? There appear to be some uncertainty about - particularly in the area of 

non-pecuniary, either significant or non-significant interest - as to what that actually 

means and what it incorporates. And also, I know this is a very long question, 

whether there should be some facility or way that a councillor could seek some 

advice or guidance when the issue arises? 35 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I think more training to clarify the meaning and how to 

appropriately raise and deal with conflicts of interest would certainly be beneficial. 

Currently, I think if - if councillors have a question or wish to seek advice about 

those things, there are a range of people or organisations that they could approach. 40 

Obviously, internal sources - the CEO, general counsel, director of Governance, or 

externally, Local Government New South Wales, the Office of Local 

Government - they're two organisations that immediately spring to mind - that 

councillors can contact with those queries.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: Can you excuse me. Your reference to a possible source of 

advice being general counsel - the ability to contact or ask questions of general 
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counsel, is that spelt out that that capacity or potential to contact general counsel is 

available? We've just heard some evidence that would suggest that that's not an 

avenue of seeking advice.  

 

COMMISSIONER: On this issue?  5 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

MR PARISH: That probably needs to be clarified between counsels and their 

personal capacity and the governing body's ability to - and also the CEO's ability and 10 

the mayor's ability (indistinct).  

 

COMMISSIONER: Have you ever sought advice about a conflict of interest matter 

from council staff? 

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

COMMISSIONER: So when you identified those internal sources, what was the 

basis of your suggestion that they would be available? 

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: Given that the CEO is the chief executive officer of the entire 

organisation, it's the only role that we have any input in appointing, I would expect 

that the chief executive officer would be across those issues and would be able to -  

 

COMMISSIONER: By virtue of the positions they hold?  25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Even though you haven't done it yourself -  

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - you would consider that they would be appropriate people to 

contact? 

 35 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Why did you say general counsel? Or why did you suggest 

general counsel? 

 40 

MR MONAGHAN: Only because of the number of and volume of questions, I 

think, we ask him at council meetings.  

 

MS McDONALD: Poor old Mr Galpin?  

 45 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: Okay. Can you just excuse me for a minute. Yes. No further 

questions.  

  

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Does anyone have any questions for the councillor? 

 5 

MR PARISH: No, Commissioner. 

 

COMMISSIONER: No? No. You did? Yes. 

 

MS PALMER: Yes. 10 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, Ms Palmer.  

 

MS PALMER: Commissioner, I'm just waiting for instructions, but just in terms of 

a practical way forward - and I haven't got the instructions on this -  15 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MS PALMER: There has been some adverse material which has fallen from 

Councillor Monaghan with respect to the mayor. 20 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS PALMER: And I'm thinking in - particularly, but not limited to the information 

about potential inequitable application of the Code of Meeting Practice. I appreciate 25 

that previously Ms Richardson put forward a proposal with some of Councillor 

Ristevski's evidence that we're not taken to have accepted those allegations if we 

don't cross-examine Mr Monaghan on them today. Rather, to the extent that counsel 

assisting wants to make those submissions they could be put to Mr Mannoun when 

he's back to give evidence. But I've not had a chance to discuss that with -  30 

 

COMMISSIONER: Senior - 

 

MS PALMER: It's just we're also in a position - we've not been talking to 

Mr Mannoun because he's still under -  35 

 

COMMISSIONER: I understand. Well - yes, I mean - 

 

MS PALMER: Yes, still giving evidence. 

 40 

COMMISSIONER: Getting instructions is one thing - perhaps slightly different to 

speaking to him about his evidence, but it would seem to fall in the same category, 

would it not?  

 

MS McDONALD: I think so, yes.  45 

 

COMMISSIONER: If you want to -  
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MS McDONALD: If I want to -  

 

COMMISSIONER: If you want to take those issues up, they - I mean, they need to 

be, anyway, put to the councillor. Suggesting things could be done better is maybe in 5 

a different category to suggesting there was inequitable application in favour of some 

councillors or another. That is something that probably would need to be put, as 

distinct from the video suggests there might be improvements that could be made, 

which may not necessarily need to be - are we on the same page, Ms Palmer?  

 10 

MS PALMER: Commissioner, I was exactly the same page as - that's how I saw the 

evidence as well. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: No, that's appropriate. 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Does that then deal with - yes?  

 

MS PALMER: Yes. Yes, it does. Thank you, Commissioner. Thank you.  20 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Does anyone else? Mr Tynan? No? 

 

MR TYNAN: No. 

 25 

COMMISSIONER: No. Ms Hamilton-Jewell?  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Yes, Commissioner. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. We'll just make sure we can hear you. Do you -  30 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Commissioner, can we have just a momentary pause 

so that we can shuffle? I think - 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Well, we won't pause, we'll just pause in place.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: (Indistinct) we can shuffle. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 40 

MS McDONALD: And can I just indicate that, as Mr Monaghan has to get to the 

council for the resumed meeting - if we could finish around 4 o'clock?  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. We'll do our best to make sure that happens. See how 

we go. As close to 4 as we can, but I don't want you to have to come back again.  45 

 

MR MONAGHAN: If I have to come back, I have to come back.  
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COMMISSIONER: Well, we'll try and avoid that too.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Councillor Monaghan, my name is 

Ms Hamilton-Jewell and I act for Councillor Ristevski. Perhaps starting in the order 5 

in which we dealt with matters today, you were played the video by counsel assisting 

of the meeting from last night's - the recording of last night's council meeting.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 10 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Perhaps if that can be brought up and just the last 

section played. INQ.101.001.0001. Now, if we can play from about 6 hours and 33, 

please.  

 

VIDEO PLAYED  15 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Councillor Monaghan, do you agree with the 

observation by Councillor Karnib that the mayor does usually ask for convenient 

times for the adjournment of the meeting?  

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Was any reason given as to why the adjournment to 

Monday could not take place? 

 25 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: If we can just pull up - and dealing with some 

questions that you were asked. The agenda for that meeting is INQ.095.001.0003. 

And you can see there that's the council agenda for 26 November 2025? 30 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: If we can just scroll down to page 7, please. You can 

see there - just down a little bit more, please, so we can see - can see: 35 

 

"CONF 11 code of conduct investigation report (T8)."  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 40 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And: 

 

"CONF 11 code of conduct investigation report T1, T2 and IW."  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  45 
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MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Without disclosing the contents of the report, those 

confidential code of conduct investigations reports, were they the investigation 

reports that came back from the code of conduct reviewers? 

 

MR RIZK: I object (indistinct).  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: I'm sorry, I can't hear you.  

 

MR RIZK: I object to this question, and more generally this line of questioning. 

With respect, they're matters for counsel assisting to have raised. And it's unclear, to 10 

me at least, why any particular individual councillor - or counsel acting on behalf of 

an individual councillor to be raising these matters. Now, I'm not aware of what the 

practice has been, in effect, more broadly, but how, Commissioner, you're 

necessarily assisted by going into lines of inquiry that counsel assisting haven't taken 

up -  15 

 

COMMISSIONER: Well, I have multiple interested parties who all have their own 

interests to protect. I think I know the councillor who might be the subject of these 

reports. So if it's only on that basis - Ms McDonald, do you need to be heard on this?  

 20 

MS McDONALD: I think, consistently with the approach you've taken throughout 

the inquiry, it's - the questions by other interested parties have not been restrained to 

only subject matters or matters that counsel assisting has raised.  

 

COMMISSIONER: This is an inquiry, it's not re-examination.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: And as long as it's relevant for your ultimate consideration in 

preparing your report and is not too time-consuming, we have no objection to it.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. I'll allow the question.  30 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Sorry, could you repeat the question?  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: I can, yes. So do you recall if the code of conduct 

reviewers' final report was a report that's provided as CONF 11 and CONF 12?  35 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's what my understanding is - those reports are.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you were asked some questions by counsel 

assisting as to whether or not the complainant was identified in those reports?  40 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Do you recall if those reports dealt with each 

complaint in turn? 45 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I don't recall, no.  
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MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: All right. And you were also asked by counsel 

assisting - some questions were - apologies, withdraw that. There was a reference to 

the code of conduct spreadsheet that had been prepared by council.  

 5 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Do you recall counsel assisting referring to that? If 

that can be brought up, please. That is INQ.077.001.0002, but please do not live 

stream it.  10 

 

COMMISSIONER: Mr Parish had stood up and he's now seated.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: If we can just zoom in a little more on that page, 

please. You'll recall that one of the confidential items referred to T1 and T2? 15 

  

MR MONAGHAN: Wasn't it T8, T11 and T12?  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: It was CONF 11 and CONF 12, and CONF 11 was 

T8. 20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And CONF 12 was T1, T2 and IW.  

 25 

MR MONAGHAN: Was it? Okay.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: So looking at that spreadsheet there, you see tranche 

T1?  

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: T1. Yes, I can - it's very - it is very small.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And if you can look at what is column H - we can 

zoom in, we don't need the bottom of the page. If you can see the - column H sets out 

the respondent?  35 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And column I sets out the complaint?  

 40 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And so it's quite easy to identify from that 

spreadsheet who the relevant complainant is? 

 45 

MR MONAGHAN: Very easy.  
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MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And if you can please scroll down to about page 8, 

where T8 - sorry, you can go to the next page for T2, and again scroll down. You can 

see - in that column I you can see who the complainant is?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  5 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And if you can go down to page 8 so we can see T8, 

please. And again, you can see there quite clearly who the complainant is?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  10 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Just some additional questions in relation to last 

night's meeting. You gave some evidence in relation to a mayoral minute that was 

introduced.  

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Do you agree that it was quite a lengthy debate in 

relation to the mayoral minute? 

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And took up quite a bit of time in the meeting?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  25 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And the meeting started at around 6 pm?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Thereabouts.  

 30 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And the section of the recording that counsel assisting 

played to you earlier this afternoon, that started - I think we heard Councillor Karnib 

making a comment that that was around 10.40 pm?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, it was very late.  35 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And Councillor Macnaught moved a motion to bring 

forward confidential motions 11 and 12? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  40 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And was it a budget review item that was being 

deferred? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Not deferred, but those items were being brought ahead of the 45 

budget review item, yes.  

 



 

 

 

 

LCC Inquiry – 27.11.2025 P-3928  Transcript by Law In Order 

 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you've given evidence just a moment ago that 

budget issues are a significant issue for this council?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 5 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And in your view, was it appropriate that the budget 

issues be - for the confidential items to be brought forward, ahead of the budget 

issues?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, I voted against it.  10 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: You also gave some evidence about a notice of 

motion or an amendment to a notice of motion that you had raised about mayoral 

minutes.  

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: Sorry. 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: You gave some evidence that you - earlier today that 

you had raised an amendment in relation to the timing for mayoral minutes.  

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, yes, yes. 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: If we can bring up, please, INQ.001.001.1126. Yes, 

please. Now, you can see that that's the minutes from the ordinary meeting on 10 

December? 25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: If we can please go down to page 59. Down the 

bottom, please. There, you can see there's: 30 

 

"Proposed amendments to the following clauses of the draft Code of Meeting 

Practice." 

  

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  35 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Scroll down again, please. And then over on to the 

next page, please. And you can see: 

 

"Amend clause 9.6." 40 

 

Do you see that there?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I can see that.  

 45 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Was that the amendment that you proposed?  
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MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And what's - I think you gave evidence on that earlier 

today, but what was the outcome of that proposed amendment? 

 5 

MR MONAGHAN: So that item was deferred, subject to advice being provided by 

council staff as to whether or not those proposed amendments could be implemented. 

I attended a briefing with a number of council staff in relation to the matter. We 

were - I was told that that particular amendment was inconsistent with the mandatory 

provisions of the Model Code of Practice - Meeting Practice, and given its 10 

inconsistency was unlawful and could not be achieved, so I withdrew it.  

 

COMMISSIONER: There's a provision of the Act that requires councils to adopt 

the Model Code of Conduct and the Model Code of Meeting Practice. It allows them 

to supplement it but not in an inconsistent way. Is that - 15 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: That's the effect of what you were told? 

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Was it by - Mr Parish will listen carefully - I don't think this is 

legal advice, but if it is just pause before you answer, in case I'm get into areas - but 

was the inconsistency the - the fact that the new model code places no restrictions 25 

whatsoever on the use of mayoral minutes - and on one view, your amended 9.6 

would do so? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: These amendments were proposed prior to the new model code 

being released.  30 

 

COMMISSIONER: Of course they were. This is 10 December, I'm sorry. Yes.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. But my understanding is -  

 35 

COMMISSIONER: Same point.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Same point, yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Sorry.  40 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: You also gave some evidence earlier about a meeting 

on 24 September 2025 and some conflicts of interest that were declared?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  45 
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MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Perhaps if those minutes can be brought up. 

INQ.072.001.0008. Yes, please. You can see those are the minutes of the 

extraordinary meeting on 24 September 2025?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  5 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And if you can scroll down, please. And again, 

please. Sorry, to page 2. Sorry, page 3. Now, it's not necessary to go through each 

one, but there was confidential 01 that was relating to a staff matter?  

 10 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you can see there that there was a conflict of 

interest that was disclosed? 

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And those were the ones you referred to earlier? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  20 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Commissioner, I have three topics to go. I'm very 

cognisant of the time.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Well, let's just keep going and - what's your absolute drop-dead 25 

to get to the council meeting by 6? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: It depends on the traffic. Really, it does, but - 

 

COMMISSIONER: I understand that.  30 

 

MR EMMETT: Maybe 4.15.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Well, let's keep going, and then we'll see where we're 

at, at 4.15.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: Could I just indicate we have had some discussions with 

Mr Monaghan and his legal representatives.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: There is some capacity tomorrow afternoon, but I just raise that.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. I'm not in any way seeking to shortcut do, but how 

long do you think you need? 45 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Longer than the 15 minutes, Commissioner. 
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COMMISSIONER: All right. Well, then, Councillor, I'll let you go now. And it 

looks like I'll see you again for a third time tomorrow. But I'm grateful for your 

attendance and your assistance this afternoon, and I'd better let you go to get to your 

meeting on time. What time tomorrow for the councillor? Or you haven't yet 5 

arranged that?  

 

MS McDONALD: Could you excuse me for a minute.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Councillor, you can start heading off if you need to get away.  10 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I've got plenty of time. Thank you.  

 

MS McDONALD: There's another matter that I have to raise, but Mr Monaghan 

doesn't have to be here, but could we propose 2.30 tomorrow afternoon?  15 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Okay. Well, we'll see you again then. Thank you, 

Councillor.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Thank you. 20 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW  

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry. Mr Monaghan can go - bolt. 

 25 

COMMISSIONER: Go before someone stops you.  

 

MS McDONALD: Could you just excuse me for a minute.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Sure.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry, Commissioner. During Mr Monaghan's 

evidence - I understand there's been a communication from Mr Mannoun's legal 

representatives. There is a proposal about his availability tomorrow.  

 35 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: He can still come and give evidence for about three hours.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: But the proposal is we start at 10.30 and go through to 1.30. That 

would then leave us an hour, if - for a break, a lunch break. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Yes. 45 
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MS McDONALD: And then Mr Monaghan would start at 2.30, and we can finish 

him off.  

 

COMMISSIONER: That's fine by me. That gets Councillor Mannoun off to his 

commitment in the afternoon.  5 

 

MS PALMER: Yes. Commissioner, we would be very grateful for that indulgence, 

if - leave at 1.30.  

 

COMMISSIONER: That's - and start at 10.30? 10 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: That's enough time? Well, you're going into next week 

anyway.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: He had a three-hour window - 

 

COMMISSIONER: Window. All right.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: - it would appear. We were informed he was going to a funeral 

tomorrow.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Doesn't matter why. But 10.30 to 1.30 for Councillor 

Mannoun, 2.30 for Councillor Monaghan?  25 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. 

 30 

MS PALMER: And, Commissioner, may I just - sorry, I didn't mean to - 

 

MS McDONALD: No, no. That's all right. 

 

MS PALMER: I was going to say, Commissioner, may I just preserve the position, 35 

because I haven't got those instructions? I don't anticipate at this point in time I'd 

need to ask any questions of Mr Monaghan, but I will speak -  

 

COMMISSIONER: I won't cut you off.  

 40 

MS PALMER: - to my instructors. Thank you. Thank you. Thank you, 

Commissioner.  

 

COMMISSIONER: That's fine. I haven't cut anyone off yet, I'm not about to start 

with three and a half days to go.  45 

 

MS PALMER: Thank you. 
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COMMISSIONER: Within reason. No one get too many crazy ideas. 10.30 

tomorrow?  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 5 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. I'll adjourn till 10.30 tomorrow. Thank you, 

everybody. 

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 4.01 PM 10 


